## IN THE

## SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

MICHAEL GEORGE BRUNO, SR.,	)
Appellant,	)
vs.	) CASE NO. 71,419
THE STATE OF FLORIDA,	)
Appellee.	)
	)

## SECOND AMENDED INITIAL ERIEF OF APPELLANT

(On Appeal from the 17th Judicial Circuit In and For Broward County, Florida)

RICHARD L. JORANDBY
Public Defender
15th Judicial Circuit of Florida
Governmental Center/9th Floor
301 North Olive Avenue
West Palm Beach, Florida 33401
(407) 355-2150

STEVEN H. MALONE Assistant Public Defender Florida Bar No. 305545

Counsel for Appellant

#

## I. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Michael Bruno, Sr. was indicted on one count of first degree murder and one count of armed robbery with a firearm. R 960. Defense counsel unsuccessfully filed a motion to suppress statements and physical evidence. R 1010-1016. R 4-119, R 1010-1016. A motion to sever counts I and II and/or motion to have the state elect between felony murder and premeditated murder was also denied. R 1040-1043.

Appellant unsuccessfully moved for judgment of acquittal at the end of the state's case. R 653-655. Appellant renewed that motion after resting. R 666. After two days the jury returned a guilty verdict on both counts. R 777-780. At sentencing, the jury entered a death verdict by a vote of eight to four. R 913.

Appellant timely filed motions for judgment of acquittal and/or in the alternative for a new trial, and to override the death recommendation and impose a sentence of life in prison R 1097-1101, but appellant was sentenced to death September 25, 1987. R 931-955, 1102-1103. A Petition for Rehearing of Defense Motion for Judgment of Acquittal and/or in the Alternative for New Trial was filed October 27, 1987, R 1114, and was denied. Timely Notice of Appeal was filed October 28, 1987. R 1115.

## II. STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

## A. <u>Introduction</u>

At the time of the offense, Mr. Bruno and his son, Michael Bruno, Jr., 15, were living at another family's home in North Lauderdale. Residing in the home were Arthur Mahue, the owner; Sharon Spalding, his fiance; Joseph Spalding, known as "Jody", (Ms. Spalding's son), and another Spalding child. The Mahue-Spalding family and their friends ultimately testified against Mr. Bruno at trial. Their testimony, together with Mr. Bruno's incriminating statement to the police, provided the core of evidence leading to Mr. Bruno's convictions for the first degree murder and armed robbery of Lionel Merlano.

## B. The Motion to Suppress

Both Mr. Bruno and his son Michael Jr. were arrested on August 13, 1986, for the killing of Lionel Merlano. They were taken to police headquarters for

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> After statements implicating them were made by Sharon and Jody Spalding. These incriminating statements were a direct turnabout from previous information the two had given.

questioning, and both were held in custody in separate cells. Mr. Bruno was questioned first.<sup>2</sup> He had previously given an exculpatory statement to the police explaining his whereabouts at the time the killing occurred, R 50-51, and when confronted with new evidence against him, he told the police he did not want to make any further statements. R 34, 50-53.<sup>3</sup>. The police then began to question Michael, Jr., who ultimately implicated his father in the killing. R 53, 644.

Mr. Bruno had been returned to his holding cell and there spoke with Robert Manfre, a police lieutenant. Lt. Manfre testified that soon after returning to his cell, Mr. Bruno asked for a phone call, and called his parents. R 37. Appellant asked for a cigarette, then started to cry, saying he was worried about his son. Mr. Bruno questioned the officer about "certain facts" relating to the case. R 37, 38. Lt. Manfre said he had to stop the appellant, and told Mr. Bruno he didn't want him to make a statement to him. R 38. Mr. Bruno began asking Manfre for advice. Manfre told Bruno he felt it would be best if he told the truth, and if he wanted he could give a statement to Detective Edgerton. R 39.

According to Manfre, Mr. Bruno was concerned about what would happen to his son if he went to jail. He said that while the words "sexually molested" were never spoken, Mr. Bruno "may have been" referring to that. R 39-40. He told Bruno that only he could know what would happen to his son because only he knew the "total involvement" his son had in the killing, and only he had been in jail. R 39. Manfre denied telling Bruno that a statement by him clearing his son would mean his son would not go to jail, R 40, but that after Mr. Bruno indicated several times he wanted to make a statement, Manfre took him back to Detective Edgerton's office. R 43. At Edgerton's office for the second time that evening, Bruno gave a taped statement which was ultimately introduced at trial. At trial, Edgerton admitted he had told Bruno that if he gave a statement under oath swearing his son was not involved in the killing then his son would not be

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> The time the questioning took place is in dispute, as shown below.

 $<sup>^3</sup>$  Detective Edgerton, the lead investigator, testified he told Mr. Bruno that they thought his son was involved. R 51, 57.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> Bruno admits the killing but denies robbery was a motive, and says the killing was self-defense. <u>First Supp. Record</u>, V. I, pp. 1-17.

charged. 5 R 646.6

Meanwhile, Mr. Bruno's family had retained an attorney to represent him, and the attorney and his associate had contacted the police that evening in an effort to see Mr. Bruno, and had asked that any questioning be halted. Michael Castoro, an attorney practicing in Hollywood, Florida, was contacted by a friend of the family slightly after 9 p.m. R 9. The family told Castoro they wanted to retain him to represent Mr. Bruno and where Bruno was being held. R 7-8. Castoro called Edgerton around 9:50 p.m. R 9. Even though Castoro identified himself as Mr. Bruno's attorney and gave Edgerton his bar number, Edgerton refused to let him speak with Mr. Bruno. R 9, 15. Castoro testified he had caught the offficer before a statement was taken, as Edgerton seemed "very anxious to take one." R 9, 15. When Castoro directed him not to take a statement from his client, Edgerton "more or less shrugged it off." R 10. Castoro then called his associate, Kay Doderer, and told her to go to the police station. R 9.

Ms. Doderer, also an attorney, received the call from Mr. Castoro at about 9:40 p.m. directing her to go to the police station. R 17. She tried to call the police herself, but the line was busy. She arrived at the police station between "10 and 10:15 till 10:30." She immediately asked to speak to Detective Edgerton and to her client, Mr. Bruno. Edgerton refused the request, saying Mr. Bruno was giving a statement at the time and he was not going to let her in to see him. R 19. Ms. Doderer again advised Edgerton that Mr. Bruno was not going to make a statement. R 20. She was not allowed back to see Mr. Bruno. She gave Edgerton her card and was told she could talk to Bruno after they were finished

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> Edgerton did not make this admission at the suppression hearing. There he only said he made "no promises." R 63-4.

Mr. Bruno testified at the evidentiary hearing on the motion to suppress the statements, and his recollection of the circumstances surrounding the questioning tracks much of what the officers say, but is somewhat different. He testified that when he and his son were arrested they were handcuffed together with wire ties, and while he as on the ground, one of the officers shot his gun not more than three feet from him. R 77. Mr. Bruno was brought to the police station, taken to a room and told that both he and his son were charged with first degree murder. After signing the rights waiver form, he said knew nothing he "didn't kill nobody," about it, and wanted to see a lawyer. R 80. After the call, Manfre came into the cell and had a cigarette with him. Manfre told him that if he made a statement his son would be released, and if he didn't, "well you know what they do with little boys in jail." R 82. Manfre suggested Bruno tell Edgerton that a fight broke out and that it was self defense, so Bruno gave a statement to that effect. R 83. Mr. Bruno also testified that no one told him a lawyer had been trying to contact him that evening. R 83-4.

with him. R 21. At 1 a.m. Edgerton called her back and said he had shown her card to Bruno, but he said he didn't know her. R 21-3. Finally, at 3 a.m. the next morning, she was allowed to speak with Mr. Bruno, R 23, 26, and she appeared on his behalf before the magistrate at 10:30 a.m. that day. R 24.

Detective Edgerton recalled the times differently but the events in approximately the same sequence. He testified he received a phone call from an "alleged attorney" at approximately 9 or 9:15 p.m. R 53, 69. When he "got out there" to talk to him, the attorney said he was retained to represent Mr. Bruno. Edgerton says no one is permitted to make calls at the station as a matter of policy; that Mr. Bruno had not requested them to call his parents and had not been given the opportunity to do so. R 54. (Edgerton did not know Mr. Bruno had been allowed to call his parents, though he says Manfre "may have" told him of the phone call.) R 55. The attorney asked Edgerton not to take a statement, but Edgerton refused, saying Bruno had not requested an attorney and to his knowledge had not made a phone call. Edgerton said he did not know who the person on the phone was, could not be assured it was an attorney, and could not follow what was being asked of him. R 55.

Edgerton said that when Ms. Doderer arrived at 10:30 p.m. he told her that she could not see him because Bruno had not requested an attorney, had signed a rights waiver form, and had made no phone calls to an attorney to his knowledge. R 59-60. He said he advised Mr. Bruno that Ms. Doderer was outside and wanted to see him, but that was after the statement had been taken. R 60.

There is a discrepancy as to when the incriminating statement was actually taken: at the end of the taped statement (Ex 2), Detective Edgerton says it is 10:10 p.m. At the beginning of the statement, Edgerton says it is 8:59 p.m. The tape is eleven minutes long. R 69-72. Edgerton says the tape "must have" ended at 9:10 p.m. R 71. This issue will be discussed in more detail, below.

The taped statement of Mr. Bruno was admitted into evidence and played for the jury. In it, Mr. Bruno says he alone committed the killing, but only after he and Merlano got into a physical battle when Merlano verbally abused his son.

#### C. Guilt Phase

## 1) lay testimony

The state sought to pinpoint the time of death by calling a person who

lived in the apartment next door to Merlano, but "barely knew" him. R 322. He testified that in the early morning hours of Saturday, August 9, 1986, he was awakened by noises coming from the victim's apartment. The sounds were like scuffling, and he heard (he "believes") Merlano saying, "hey, hey, hey" through the thin walls. The sounds lasted five or six minutes. R 327-8. The neighbor had initially thought the noises were "his friends having a little fun or something," not like anyone was crying out in pain. R 329. He got up and started to walk over to ask Merlano to keep it down, but the noise soon stopped so he went back to bed. R 327.

Michael Bruno, Jr. qave a statement to the police the night they were arrested for first degree murder. R 436. He said under oath that on the evening in question, his father had taken him for a ride, dropped him off at a gas station, and came back an hour later. His father later told him he had gotten into a big fight with someone who might have been killed. R 437. That statement did not change until about ten months later, 2 days before trial was to begin.8 On that day with the knowledge he was granted immunity, Mike, Jr. gave a dramatically different story to the state attorney and Detective Edgerton, in which he said he was an eyewitness to the killing. R 439, 647-9. By the time of trial, under immunity, R 101, 439, 722, Michael, Jr. testified that in the summer of 1986 he was down from New York, living with his father and sister Alicia at the Candlewood apartments. R 423-4. By August of 1986, the family was living with the Spaldings at their home. R 425. On Friday night, August 8th, several people were over at the Spalding house. R 426. At about 9 or 10 p.m., he and his father went to a friend's house at Candlewood apartments for some beers. R 425-6. One of the people at the Spaldings, Steve Mazella, loaned them his car. R 420. They both went to Building C, to an apartment unknown to Mike, Jr. R 427.

Michael, Jr.'s date of birth is June 5, 1971. He was fifteen at the time the crime occurred, sixteen when he testified. R 423.

The trial was continued from that date. <u>Second Supp. Record</u>, V. II, pp. 13-15. During the previous ten month period, Michael, Jr., had been undergoing psychotherapy for "Acute Post-Traumatic Stress Disorder," with at least one psychologist, in Massachusetts. R 131. In an attachment to defense counsel's "Motion for Psychiatric Examination of State's Complaining Witness," are facts not discussed at trial: his psychiatrist relates that Michael, Jr., was suffering, among other things, "memory impairment," and "disassociative states in which he is unable to respond to the world around him." R. 128-131.

His father knocked on the door and the "guy" let them in. Mike, Jr. identified a picture of Merlano as the man who let them in. Only the three of them were in the apartment; they all drank a beer and listened to the man's stereo. R 426-8.

"At some point", Mike testified, his father went to the bathroom. Then "at some point" he went over to the stereo "to play with the knobs" R 429. His father told the man he liked the stereo equipment, and the next he knew "the guy was on his knees playing with the knobs, and my father was standing over him. He pulled out a crow-bar, started hitting him." The crow-bar had been in the front of Mr. Bruno's pants. According to Mike, Jr., his father used the crow-bar like a baseball bat, hitting the man "pretty hard" over the head a number of times. The man was bleeding, asking him to help, but Junior says he couldn't help because he was in shock. R 430.

The man fell to the floor and appeared to still be alive. His father told him to get a gun from under the sink in the bathroom, and he did. According to Mike, his father then grabbed a pillow, put it over the gun, and shot the man twice in the head. They both then left immediately. R 431-2. Mike testified that while he didn't have a watch, they had left for the man's apartment "in the neighborhood between 9 and 10 p.m.," that he was at the apartment for approximately an hour, and the incident happened at 10 or at the latest 11." R. 442.9

When they returned to the Spaldings, Mike spoke briefly with Jody, then went to sleep. R. 432. Mike testified his father later told him he had thrown the gun and crow-bar in a canal. R 432. He also testified that a picture of the apartment showing the area where the stereo had been revealed pieces missing; that his father made several trips over the next few days using Jody Spalding's car; and that a stereo "appeared" at the Spaldings' during that time. R 428, 432-3.

Mike, Jr. and his father moved out of the Spaldings' home shortly after, and had plans to return to New York at the time they were arrested. R 433. Since the arrest, Mike, Jr. said his father had told him to tell various stories either blaming Jody Spalding or another person; that he was out bowling or at the movies with a girl, or in a "roundabout way" that he and Jody Spalding had committed

 $<sup>^{9}</sup>$  Yet he also says they "could have" gotten back to Spaldings as late as 2 or 2:30 a.m. R. 443.

the crime. R 433-4.10

Other friends of Mike, Jr., and family and friends of the Spaldings also provided testimony at trial. The Spaldings' testimony, like Michael, Jr's., was entirely inconsistent with their initial statements to the police.

After Mr. Merlano's body was found in his apartment on August 11, 1986, an officer stopped Jody Spalding in the Candlewood Apartments parking lot. The officer said Spalding had been a "little defensive" and wanted to know why he was being asked questions. R 506. 11 The officer took his address and later questioned both him and his mother. R 508.

The officer came to the Spalding residence to question Jody and Sharon Spalding on Monday (the 11th), or Tuesday (the 12th). R 407. Jody admits that at that time he told the officers he knew "nothing about" the killing and that the Brunos had been with him the whole weekend. R 410. When Sharon Spalding was questioned that day, she also denied any knowledge of the killing. R 454-55. 12

But in the days preceding the questioning, the Spaldings had possession of the stereo and T.V. belonging to Merlano, and were using both in their home. R 411, 455, 456. Jody Spalding had thrown away a pair of his sneakers later determined to have blood on them. R 415-416. By the time the police came back on Thursday to question Sharon Spalding again, she had put the stereo equipment in the trunk of her car. R 453. When she was questioned the second time, the police officers told her they knew she was holding back. R 455. It was then that she showed the officers the stereo components that were in her trunk, R 453, and told the police the story she testified to at trial.

Ms. Spalding testified that the last week in July 1986 Mr. Bruno mentioned a man in "C" building and "what he was going to do to him" R 449: "He told me that he was in Viet Nam with this man, and because of this man's stupidity, eight or nine of his friends got killed, and that he was going to get even with him."

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>10</sup> Michael, Jr., also testified this friend, Jody Spalding, sells marijuana "but not cocaine." R.435-6.

Spalding says he and Mike, Jr., were in the car, and "thinks" he told the police he was there to pick up a receipt for a refrigerator. R 407.

Sharon Spalding had "visited" Candlewood Apartments, and cleaned apartments there in the past. She had access to keys to all the apartments ("the ones that were empty") and knew where the keys were kept. R 462.

R 450. She recalled that on Friday, August 8, she saw Mr. Bruno sitting on a couch in her house with a gun in a brown suitcase. She told him she didn't want a gun in her house, and he said he was taking it out of there. R 450. By the next day, "certain items" had appeared in the utility room: a computer, VCR, and some stereo equipment. R 451. When asked about the items, Bruno told her not to worry, that the person wouldn't be coming for them because he was dead. R 452. She didn't tell the police about it immediately because she either didn't believe him or was scared Bruno "might do something to her family." R 452, 458.

Jody changed his story the same day his mother did. He "believes" the police questioning centered on the stereo equipment. R 410. He told police Mr. Bruno committed the killing, and he retrieved his sneakers for the police from a dumpster where he had thrown them away. R 416. The story he ultimately told that day is the one he also testified to at trial.

Jody was eighteen at time of trial. R 387. He knew Mr. Bruno and his son, Mike, Jr., and daughter. R 388. About a week before the incident, Jody says, he and Mr. Bruno went to see a friend of his, Chris Tague. R 388. Mr. Tague had a gun, and Mr. Bruno asked if he could borrow it. R 388-90.13

Jody says that Mike, Jr. got back at 2 or 3 a.m. the morning of August 9th but didn't say anything at first. He looked "pale and weak and scared, really scared". When they were alone, Mike, Jr. said "you don't ever want to see what I saw tonight." R 391. Jody says he later saw Bruno, who told him he had gotten into a "big fight with this guy and he was dead". R 391. Bruno said "he was going to get some equipment and stuff from the guy's house," R 391, and left in his mother's car. Jody went to sleep. R 392. He was awakened at 10:00 a.m. on Saturday by Bruno, who said he wanted Jody to take him to Casa Sorreno, where his parents were living. R 392. When he awoke, Jody saw for the first time a VCR and stereo equipment in the house. R 393. Bruno told him he got the stereo from the house of a guy that he killed. He says Bruno looked "scared very nervous". R 393.

Jody took Bruno to the complex, and when they got there, he says Bruno

While Jody Spalding denied dealing marijuana, he admitted that he and a friend had previously gone to "collect money" from a man named "Duke," who owed "Archie" (Maheu) money. He didn't know for what, and was "not sure" if anyone who went with him to collect money had a gun. R 415, 420.

threw "something" away, "what looked to be a steel bar wrapped in cloth." R 354. On the way home, he asked Jody to stop at another canal, where he threw a gun wrapped in a cloth. R 395. Then they stopped at yet another canal, where he threw away the cylinder piece of a gun. R 395-6.

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