THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. 71,419

MICHAEL G. BRUNO, SR.

Appellant,

vs.

STATE OF FLORIDA

Appellee.

APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE SEVENTEENTH
JUDICIAL CIRCUIT OF FLORIDA, IN AND FOR BROWARD COUNTY
CRIMINAL DIVISION

ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH Attorney General The Capitol Tallahassee, FL 32399-1050

JOHN M. KOENIG, JR. Assistant Attorney General Florida Bar No. 394180 111 Georgia Avenue, Suite 204 West Palm Beach, FL 33401 Telephone (407) 837-5062

Counsel for Appellee

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

In sum, this Court should agree that the defense failed to present a sufficient predicate and find that the trial judge did not abuse his discretion in denying the requests for access to grand jury testimony.

ISSUE VI

THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ERR IN DENYING APPELLANT'S MOTION TO REQUIRE THE STATE TO ELECT BETWEEN FELONY MURDER AND PREMEDITATED MURDER.

The sixth issue raised by Appellant relates to the sufficiency of the indictment. Appellant asserts that he was tried for both premeditated and felony murder, but was not charged with nor put on notice of the felony murder theory. This issue is totally lacking in merit.

First, as acknowledged by Appellant, this Court has repeatedly held that felony murder and premeditated murder are not mutually exclusive. "The state does not have to charge felony murder in the indictment but may prosecute the charge of first-degree murder under a theory of felony murder when the indictment charges premeditated murder." State v. Pinder, 375 So.2d 836,839 (Fla. 1979). See also Garcia v. State, 492 So.2d 360,366 (Fla. 1986); Green v. State, 475 So.2d 235 (Fla. 1985); Bush v. State, 461 So.2d 936,940 (Fla. 1984); O'Callaghan v. State, 429 So.2d 691,695 (Fla. 1983); Adams v. State, 412 So.2d 850 (Fla. 1982); Knight v. State, 338 So.2d 201,204 (Fla. 1976). As in these cases, Appellant makes the allegation that the indictment fails to state the elements of the offense charged with sufficient clarity to apprise him of what he had to prepare to defend against. However, the record demonstrates that defense

counsel was fully aware that the State was proceeding under both theories as the indictment charged murder under both theories (R.107-108). In fact, Appellant's defense counsel admitted on the record that "the indictment in this case reads that the defendant has been charged with the premeditated and/or felony murder of one Lionel Merlano" (R.107). He merely wanted the State to elect one or the other. As established above, such an election is not necessary. The trial court's ruling should be affirmed.

ISSUE VII

THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ERR IN DENYING APPELLANT'S MOTION FOR PSYCHIATRIC EXAMINATION OF STATE'S COMPLAINING WITNESS.

In this issue, Appellant challenges the trial court's order denying his Motion for Psychiatric Examination of State's Complaining Witness (R.128-130). However, it appears that said motion was never ruled on by the trial court, and therefore, Appellant is estopped from seeking appellate review since there was no trial court ruling. Coffman v. Kelly, 256 So.2d 79 (Fla. 1st DCA 1972). Moreover, this Court has further held that the losing party must assign the ruling as ground of error and include the same in the transcript of the record brought to the Supreme Court on appeal. Howland v. Cates, 43 So.2d 848 (Fla. 1950).

Sub judice, Appellant requested leave of this Court to supplement the record on appeal with the trial court's written order and a transcript of any hearing on that motion. See Motion served April 26, 1989. By order dated April 28, 1989, this Court denied the request "without prejudice to appellant's right to seek supplementation by affirmatively stating that any document filed of record has not been included in the record on appeal or that any specifically identified hearing recorded by a court reporter has not been included in the record on appeal or

transcribed for inclusion in the record." Appellant has failed to pursue either remedy. As such, he has forfeited any right to an appellate review of this issue and this Court is not required to go on a fishing expedition to accommodate Appellant.

ISSUE VIII

THE ELICITATION OF TESTIMONY CONCERNING WITNESSES' FEAR OF APPELLANT DID NOT DEPRIVE HIM OF A FAIR TRIAL.

Appellant complains that remarks from two of State's witnesses that they were in fear of him, were irrelevant and inflammatory, thus denying him of his right to due It is axiomatic that any alleged error of introduction of evidence must be objected to at trial in order to obtain appellate review thereof. Cooper v. State, 492 So.2d 1059 (Fla. 1986), cert. denied, 107 S.Ct. 1330, 94 L.Ed.2d 181 (1986); Phillips v. State, 476 So.2d 194 (Fla 1985). The record in this case is devoid of any objection whatsoever to the testimony complained of in this appeal. Accordingly, the issue has not been properly preserved for review by this Court. Again, this State urges the Court to dispose of this ground solely by rendering a plain statement that Appellant is in irrevocable procedural default thereupon, in order to prevent its subsequent unjustified litigation on the merits in a federal habeas corpus proceeding in the event of an affirmance here. See Harris v. Reed, supra.

The State would also note that on at least one occasion, Appellant likewise elicited testimony concerning the witness' fear of him. This occurred on cross-examination of Sharon Spalding Maheu (R.463). Consequently, Appellant is in

violation of the so-called "invited-error rule," which stands for the proposition that a defendant may not take advantage of an error which he has induced. <u>Ellison v. State</u>, 349 So.2d 731,732 (Fla. 3d DCA 1977), <u>cert. denied</u>, 357 So.2d 185 (Fla. 1978).

ISSUE IX

TESTIMONY REGARDING APPELLANT'S ARREST AND JAIL STATUS DID NOT DEPRIVE HIM OF A FAIR TRIAL.

Similar to the previous issue, Appellant laments that certain testimony from the State's witnesses denied him of his right to due process. Specifically, he avers that the prosecutor elicited testimony on six occasions through four different witnesses that Appellant had been arrested and had been in jail and that such testimony impermissibly denied him of his presumption of innocence. This argument is totally without merit.

First, the State reiterates that in order to preserve an alleged error for review, it must be objected to in the lower Cooper, supra; Phillips, supra. Appellant has again failed to object to the testimony now challenged on appeal, and therefore, has forfeited his right to review. Appellant's inevitable protestation to the contrary notwithstanding, any "error" would not be "fundamental" such that it could be reached upon appeal absent its proper preservation, insofar as it would not "reach...down into the very legality of the trial itself to the extent that a verdict could not have been obtained without [its] assistance." State v. Smith, 240 So.2d 807,810 (Fla. 1970), quoting Gibson v. State, 194 So.2d 19,20 (Fla. 2d DCA 1967); see also, William v. State, 400 So.2d 542 (Fla. 3d DCA 1981), cert. denied, 459 U.S. 1149 (1981).

The State also finds it necessary to note that any discussion concerning Appellant's arrest and jail status for the instant crimes was only logical and necessary in light of the common knowledge that anyone suspected of committing first-degree murder is going to be arrested and jailed. Such testimony does not in any way suggest that the prosecution "feels that Appellant was guilty," <u>Id.</u> at 42, and thus has no prejudicial effect on his case.

ISSUE X

THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ERR BY SUBMITTING THE CASE TO THE JURY AFTER APPELLANT WAIVED HIS RIGHT TO PRESENT EVIDENCE.

In this issue, Appellant initially alleges that the trial court deprived him of his constitutional right to present defense evidence. The record demonstrates otherwise.

It is well-established that the rights of an accused in a criminal trial to confront and cross-examine witnesses and to call witnesses in his own behalf are essential to due process and a fair trial. Chambers v. Mississippi, 410 U.S. 284, 35 L.Ed.2d 297, 308, 93 S. Ct. 1038 (1973); Hitchcock v. State, 413 So.2d 741,744 (Fla. 1982), cert. denied, 459 U.S. 960, 74 L.Ed.2d 213,103 S. Ct.274 (1982). However, in the case at bar, Appellant unequivocally waived his right to present evidence, and thus, should not now be heard to complain.

The record demonstrates that after the State rested its case, the court was made aware of Appellant's desire to present evidence through witnesses in his own behalf (R.655). Defense counsel stated on the record that he had consulted with Appellant regarding his right and decision to present testimony in his own behalf. Counsel informed the court that he had questioned all the witnesses on the defense witness list and, based on his professional conclusion, their testimony would not contribute to Appellant's case (R.660). "It is a strategic decision on my

part, as I have indicated to Mr. Bruno" (R.660). Defense counsel also advised Appellant not to take the stand, but that it was a decision for Appellant to make (R.656). The trial judge also advised Appellant of his constitutional right to testify and present evidence in his own behalf, and of the State's burden of proving guilt (R.657-658). After a short recess, defense counsel made further record the fact that he had "strenuously" advised Appellant to take a plea in this case (R.661). Appellant then stated affirmatively on the record that it was his decision not to take the stand nor to call any witnesses (R.665). Appellant clearly and unequivocally waived his right to present a defense, he should be estopped from asserting that the trial judge deprived him of that constitutional right. See McPhee v. State, 254 So.2d 406 (Fla. 1st DCA 1971). Having fortified his decision not to present a defense, thereby entitling him to open and close argument, Appellant may not assert an inconsistent position challenging the trial court's subsequent submission of the case to the jury. This action is nothing more than classic sandbagging.

Appellant further argues in this issue that Fla.R.Cr.P. 3.250, providing that a defendant offering no testimony in his own behalf, except his own, is entitled to concluding argument before the jury, is unconstitutional as it penalizes him for exercising his right to present evidence. As recognized by Appellant, the constitutionality of this Rule has been challenged and upheld by this Court in <u>Preston v. State</u>, 260 So.2d 501 (Fla.

1972). He has offered no reason to disturb that decision at this time. See also Herring v. New York, 422 U.S. 853,863, n. 13, 45 L.Ed.2d 593, 95 S.Ct. 2550, 2556, n. 13 (1975); Leeks v. State, 529 So. 2d 787 (Fla. 2d DCA 1988).

ISSUE XI

THE PROSECUTOR'S CLOSING ARGUMENT WAS NOT OBJECTED TO NOR DID IT AMOUNT TO FUNDAMENTAL ERROR.

As with numerous of the foregoing issues, Appellant is raising yet another claim of reversible error for the first time on appeal. He now argues that the prosecutor's alleged repeated interjections of personal opinion, references to evidence dehors the record, and suggestions of Appellant's guilt amounted to fundamental error depriving Appellant of a fair trial.

Prosecutorial misconduct only constitutes a ground for reversal if, viewed in context of the entire trial, it may have prejudiced the substantial rights of the defendant; if no objection is timely made, the prosecutorial conduct must constitute plain error or a defect affecting the substantial rights of the accused. <u>United States v. Johns</u>, 734 F.2d 657 (11th Cir. 1984). It shall not be presumed that error injuriously affected the substantial rights of the appellant. §924.33, Florida Statutes (1987).

<u>Sub judice</u>, there was no objection made nor was there a motion for mistrial or curative instruction based on the prosecutor's alleged improper argument and, therefore, Appellant has again failed to preserve this issue for appellate review (R.699-723). Appellant acknowledges his counsel's failure to object but argues that all of these instances constitute

fundamental error thereby requiring review. The State's review of the record shows that the comments did not constitute fundamental error and therefore urge this Court to bar review.

Groover v. State, 489 So.2d 15, 16 (Fla. 1986).

The alleged improper arguments as set forth in the initial brief are apparently only improper in the eyes of appellate counsel through his interpretations, as Appellant's trial counsel further elected not to make such claims in his motion for new trial (R.1109-1111). The State also finds it quite reasonable to conclude that the prosecutor's closing argument was nothing but a fair reply to remarks of defense counsel in his arguments, thereby obviating the need for a second trial. As the Honorable Justice Barkett recognized while a member of the Fourth District Court of Appeal:

[P]rosecutorial misconduct or indifference to judicial admonitions is the proper subject of bar disciplinary action. Reversal of the conviction is a separate matter; it is the duty of appellate courts to consider the record as a whole and to ignore harmless error, including most constitutional violations. Morgan v. State, 464 So.2d 1306, 1307 (Fla. 4th DCA 1985), citing to State v. Murray, 443 So.2d 955, 956 (Fla. 1984).

Accordingly, Appellee urges this Court to find any alleged misconduct procedurally barred, and if not, meritless.

ISSUE XII

THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ERR IN ITS INSTRUCTIONS TO THE JURY.

The twelfth issue in this cause concerns the trial instructions court's to the iury on excusable homicide, justifiable homicide, and manslaughter. The State submits, as it has repeatedly throughout this brief, that an objection is required to preserve an alleged error for review in criminal trials, and specifically, errors pertaining to jury instructions. Darden v. State, 475 So.2d 214 (Fla. 1985); Castor v. State, 365 So. 2d 701 (Fla. 1978). There was no such objection sub judice. In fact, defense counsel specifically stated he had no objections to the instructions as given (R.757).

the alleged improper instruction As to given excusable homicide, Appellant argues that the short instruction recited by the trial judge is inaccurate as the phrase "without any dangerous weapon" has been held to misleading. However, the short form instruction given in those cases cited by Appellant in support of his argument was objected to in every instance and, therefore, properly reviewed by the appellate court. Here, the instruction was not objected to, and understandably so, since it is required to be read as introduction to all murder and manslaughter cases. Standard Jury Instruction's in Criminal Cases: Introduction to

Homicide at page 61. A more detailed explanation of the use of a dangerous weapon is set forth in the long form instruction on excusable homicide. Florida Standard Jury Instructions in criminal Cases: Excusable Homicide at page 76. However, Appellant's counsel did not request the long form and is, therefore, precluded from arguing that the trial court erred in failing to instruct the jury thereon. Nevertheless, the dangerous weapon exception to the excusable homicide defense applies only to sudden combat criterion which is absent in this case. Bowes v. State, 500 So.2d 290 (Fla. 3d DCA 1986), rev. denied, 506 So.2d 1043 (Fla. 1986).

Appellant also contends that the instruction on justifiable homicide was inaccurate in that the defense of another as self defense was not clearly explained. This contention is meritless as the record clearly demonstrates that the instruction complained of was fully explained and recited in the instruction on self-defense (R.745-748).

As to the manslaughter instruction, Appellant asserts that the trial court committed fundamental error by reciting to the jury the short form, rather than the long form, standard jury instructions on justifiable and excusable homicide which is required to be included when defining manslaughter. See Stockton v. State, 544 So.2d 1006, 1008 (Fla. 1989). However, as stated above, Appellant's counsel neither requested the long form nor objected to the short form, thus resulting in a situation in which the incompleteness of the instruction requires reversal

only if it constitutes "fundamental error." As this court has recently held, such an error is deemed fundamental when it occurs during the original instructions, as it did here. Rojas v. State, 14 FLW 577, 578 (Fla. November 22, 1989). Nonetheless, the conviction of first-degree murder in this case is two steps removed from the crime of manslaughter, and thus, the error is harmless. Rojas, 14 FLW at 579, n.1; Lomax v. State, 345 So.2d 719 (Fla. 1977).

ISSUE XIII

APPELLANT'S ALLEGED ABSENCE AT SEVERAL STAGES OF THE PROCEEDINGS WAS NOT ERROR.

Counsel alleges that Appellant was absent during three stages of the proceedings below: 1) arraignment; 2) Trial Call and Motion to Continue hearing held on October 17, 1986; and 3) discussion of jury questions. Due to his absence, he claims that he was denied his right to due process and effective assistance of counsel. The State disagrees.

Rule 3.180(a)(2) of the Florida Rules of Criminal Procedure specifically allows for a defendant's absence at arraignment if a written plea of not guilty is entered. That is precisely what occurred in this case! (R.960, back of page; 2SR.7). Appellant is merely in disagreement with the rule.

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